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The past year has been an important transitional 
period for Hague and London Oil (HALO).  
In fact the past year, with respect to these 
results, has actually been 18 months for HALO 
and straddles the time from which Wessex 
Exploration Plc (Wessex) became HALO. As part 
of the restructuring the Company chose to move 
its financial reporting to the calendar year and 
this period includes nearly six months prior to the 
merger. However, with the close of this 18 month 
period, Wessex has been fully transformed into a 
new and improved company named HALO.

The Board undertook, within the challenging market 
conditions, a number of strategic and operational steps to 
reorganise, rebrand, reposition and redirect the business 
during the course of 2015. Prudent and considered action by 
the Board has enabled HALO to not only survive but also take 
advantage of the opportunities that the current environment 
of sustained low commodity prices has created.
 
Following the, near unanimous, approval at the AGM in late 
2014 Wessex Exploration changed its name to Hague and 
London Oil and carried out a 1 for 40 share consolidation of 
the entire issued Ordinary Share Capital. Shortly thereafter the 
Group appointed Stifel Nicolaus Europe Limited (“Stifel”) as 
Nominated Adviser and Broker.  The relocation of operational 
headquarters to The Hague, with lower operating costs 
and access to a wide pool of industry experts and advisers, 
completed the integration of HALO and Wessex.
 
The conditional agreement, which still remains subject to 
various Government approvals, to acquire a material interest in 
the Duyung Production Sharing Contract, offshore Indonesia, 
in the fourth quarter of 2015, was an example of HALO’s 
opportunity identification and evaluation process.  The 
proposed transaction would see HALO acquire 85% and the 
operatorship of Duyung from West Natuna Exploration Ltd, a 
private Singapore-based entity, who would retain a 15% stake. 
Duyung could represent a low-cost, low-risk opportunity for 
natural gas appraisal within the targeted area of energy-hungry 
Southeast Asia. Regardless, the process to date has created an 
opportunity for HALO to expand its scope in Southeast Asia 
beyond the Philippines.
 
Looking ahead the primary challenge for HALO with respect 
to Duyung will be to navigate the government approvals 
in a timely manner to support safe, responsible drilling 
operations in Duyung during 2016. If this is achieved the 
secondary challenge is that of the capital markets, or industry 
partners, supporting operations in Duyung in a value 
accretive fashion. The difficulties created by sector-wide 
conditions have seen a dramatic decrease in drilling and 
other related costs as well as greatly improving the availability 
of rigs and other related equipment. In addition to these 
operational benefits, and now independent of Duyung, there 
are considerable and expanding opportunities for further 

portfolio growth; however, our priority is to continue the 
same cost discipline we have followed to date and pursue 
only those opportunities which offer sufficient returns 
within manageable risk. This is an ongoing process and all 
opportunities, even within the existing (or pending) portfolio, 
are constantly measured against that which is now, or soon 
becoming, available.
 
Additionally, HALO was awarded a new licence for offshore 
exploration in Bournemouth Bay (otherwise known as 
Poole Bay) early in 2015. The licence (composed of three 
adjacent blocks) is operated by HALO with a 35% interest 
and partially surrounds the giant Wytch Farm oil field. 
The Company, along with adjacent operators, combined 
the collective 3D seismic dataset for reprocessing in 
a single, contiguous survey through pre-stack depth 
migration (PSDM) for the first time. The goal of this phase 
of exploration was to identify traps within the Wytch Farm 
migration fairway that had been overlooked to date due 
to the relatively poor quality of the individual 3D seismic 
surveys. The results of the PSDM volume will be interpreted 
during the course of 2016 and subsequent exploration plans 
will be based on this analysis.
 
We believe that, with the current state of capital markets and 
commodity prices and with many within the global oil and 
gas industry seeking a diminished pool of available capital, 
it is important for HALO to distinguish itself by our strategy 
and discipline. It is with these beliefs that our focus for new 
opportunities has been directed towards South East Asian 
and European opportunities, offering low entry cost which are 
close to infrastructure and in areas of strong local demand with 
robust natural gas prices. Opportunities such as Bournemouth 
Bay and Duyung offer low commitments but opportunities 
of significant scale that are economically viable in the current 
climate.
 
As oil prices fell a further 35% in 2015 it became evident 
that many assets in HALO’s portfolio would be considered 
for impairment. While this is likely to be a common theme 
in the sector it has allowed HALO to concentrate its efforts 
and resources on the assets that make economic and 
commercial sense in the current environment. Additionally, 
HALO has decided to depart from highly speculative - and 
relatively high cost - ventures such as Juan de Nova.  
All other aspects of the portfolio are constantly reviewed, 
but 2016 carries with it very little commitments within the 
remaining portfolio.
 
Additionally, the Company has addressed costs aggressively. 
The establishment of operational headquarters in The Hague 
has created much flexibility in corporate overheads. Virtually 
all services sought in The Hague are lower cost than those of 
London with comparable quality. World-class engineering and 
geoscience services are available to HALO locally due to the 
presence of much larger companies also operating from  
The Netherlands.

Chairman’s Statement
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Consolidated Income Statement

In the 18 month period to 31 December 2015,  
the loss before taxation was £6.5m (12 months to 
June 2014: loss £6.9m) and loss per share was 28.6p  
(12 months to June 2014: loss 38.0p).

Administrative expenses for the 18 month period were £3.0m 
(12 months to June 2014: £1.9m) of which £1.8m represented 
actual cash administration costs, £1.2m being accounted for by 
impairment charges and other non-cash credits of £(0.2m).

Other non-cash items included £3.5m (12 months to June 2014: 
£5.0m) being the Company’s share of the operating loss 
attributed to its indirect interest in the Guyane Maritime Joint 
Venture (JV). This included full impairment of costs related to 
the JV drilling campaign. 

Consolidated Balance Sheet

In the consolidated balance sheet, for which HALO 
follows a Successful Efforts accounting policy, HALO 
has now fully written off the Guyane investment 
(2014: £3.5m) and Total Equity is £0.1m (2014: 
£5.3m). 

At the end of December 2015, cash resources stood at £0.3m 
(2014: £1.9m). Looking forward, our project commitments for 
calendar year 2016 are minimal. As of the balance sheet date, 
HALO was holding 20% (2014: 63%) of its cash resources in US$.      

Financial Review

 We believe that, while capital is severely limited for oil and 
gas projects globally, HALO’s strict capital discipline, corporate 
flexibility, clean balance sheet and low capital commitments 
create a unique opportunity to exploit the current market 
conditions that have left so many smaller independents and 
the broader oil and gas industry under acute pressure.  
At the same time we are also in active discussions to 
strengthen the balance sheet and provide ongoing working 
capital, via a potential restructuring of the portfolio.

Andrew Cochran 
Chairman
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Project Review

Indonesia Philippines

On 23 September 2015 HALO announced that it had entered 
into a conditional agreement to acquire a material interest in 
the Duyung Production Sharing Contract (PSC).

Southeast Asia was at the forefront of HALO’s efforts 
during the second half of 2015 and is anticipated 
to continue as a focus area in 2016. As well as an 
intensified work program on development and 
economic scenarios, HALO has spent significant time 
in Indonesia working closely with the government 
on all requisite approvals to be able to drill an 
offshore appraisal well in Duyung in a safe and 
responsible manner. As a result of these discussions, 
HALO sought an extension to the drilling time 
period towards the end of 2015; approvals (including 
environmental permits) remain pending.

From an operational perspective, HALO has begun initial 
discussions along with its partner regarding rig-tendering 
processes and associated services for the drilling of an offshore 
appraisal well. Initial work has been encouraging with respect 
to rig availability and with well and test costs estimated to be 
significantly lower than previously budgeted for late in 2015. 
We see the market conditions in the upstream energy sector as 
providing opportunities that would not have been otherwise 
available. The Company continues to examine potential cost 
saving synergies where available in parallel with the permitting 
and approvals process.
 
HALO’s current primary objective for early 2016 is the 
permitting and approvals process with the Government of 
Indonesia for the suggested Mako South-1X well. Whilst capital 
markets are challenging at present, with a much-reduced 
capital budget it is well within HALO’s capabilities to raise 
finance for the provisional Southeast Asia work program for 
2016, provided that all extensions, permits and approvals are 
received within time to support a safe and responsible drilling 
campaign.
 
We believe that HALO’s initial screening process, which resulted 
in the conditional agreement to enter the Duyung PSC, will 
justify continued pursuits along a similar strategic arc where 
low-entry-cost opportunities with much upside potential, near 
infrastructure, are identified, evaluated and captured.

The Company (through its wholly owned subsidiary HALO 
BV) holds a 15% interest in Service Contract SC54A in the 
NW Palawan Basin, offshore Philippines. The project holds a 
number of undeveloped oil discoveries with much remaining 
exploration potential. The joint venture sought, and was 
awarded, a three-year moratorium with respect to exploration 
activities in SC54A in August 2014. The project remains a key 
element of HALO’s portfolio and the Company continues 
to review the potential for operations there during the 
moratorium period should commodity prices rise or service 
costs fall to ensure commerciality in the future. This is a low 
cost opportunity attracting little capital in 2016 unless the 
partners decide conditions support new activity there with 
three years remaining on the Service Contract.

A change in partners was announced in June 2015 
following the divestment by Kairiki Energy to  
IMC Oil and Gas Investments Ltd of its entire 
30.1% interest in SC54A.  Other partners remained 
unchanged with Nido Petroleum (majority owned by 
Thailand’s Bangchak Petroleum) (operator, 42.4%) 
and TG World (BV) Corp. (12.5%). However, the 
proposed acquisition by IMC indicates continued 
interest in the project.
 
Following careful evaluation of SC54A, the Board has taken 
the decision to fully impair the asset at the end of 2015. 
Although we see much remaining prospectivity, and potential 
commerciality of existing discoveries, in SC54A we believe that 
the prevalent oil price makes it imprudent to formally commit 
to a work program. We do however see the block as a highly 
prospective area which, in the event of an improvement in oil 
prices, would warrant a full re-evaluation and renewed activity 
prior to the end of the contract in the second half of 2018.
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UK The Netherlands

HALO, as Licence Administrator (i.e. Operator) of Promote 
Blocks 98/7b, 98/8a and 98/12 (northern part), holds a 
35% interest through its wholly owned subsidiary Wessex 
Hydrocarbons Limited. Its partner, NWE Mirrabooka (UK) Pty. 
Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of ASX-listed Norwest Energy 
NL) has a 65% interest. These licences partially surround the 
giant Wytch Farm oil field off the coast of Dorset, Southern 
England.
 
The Company pooled its seismic data with adjacent 
operators in Bournemouth (otherwise known as 
Poole) Bay and fully reprocessed the combined 
data. This data was then interpreted as a single 
contiguous volume specifically to identify previously 
unidentified traps within the Wytch Farm migration 
fairway. This will be the focus of the work in 2016 
and the partners, as well as adjacent operators, seek 
to mature prospects for future drilling.
 
After reviewing the Group’s 35% interest in Bournemouth Bay 
(Licence P2265 (blocks 98/7b, 98/8a and 98/12) we have taken 
the decision to fully impair the licences. Given the current 
oil price, as well as the environmental sensitivity of the area, 
significant capital expenditures on these assets do not make 
commercial sense.  HALO believes that with an improvement in 
the oil price and availability of capital these assets will warrant 
re-evaluation.

The Company maintains its operational headquarters in  
The Hague, Netherlands. This has been an optimal location in 
which to manage most operational functions given the low 
costs and access to world-class services and advisers. During 
the course of 2015, HALO has examined potential upstream 
opportunities within the Netherlands.
 
HALO has existing exposure to Northwest Europe 
from its activities as Operator in Bournemouth Bay, 
UK. We have monitored activity in the Netherlands 
given the physical presence of technical and 
operating staff in the country. Additionally, there 
are tax efficiencies that could be realized through 
upstream activity in the Netherlands.
 
No decisions have been made with respect to any specific 
opportunity but HALO continues to review opportunities in 
the country and applied for an offshore exploration licence 
in the F5 Block in late 2015. That process remains ongoing, 
with uncertain outcome, but is consistent with the corporate 
strategy of the Company.
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The Group holds a 44.11% interest in Northpet Investments 
Limited (Northpet), giving it a 1.103% beneficial interest in the 
Guyane Maritime Permit. The remaining interest in Northpet 
is owned by Northern Petroleum plc. Northpet holds a 2.5% 
interest in this Permit in partnership with Shell (operator, 45%), 
Tullow (27.5%) and Total SA (25%).
 
Following the full impairment of the asset at the end 
of 2014, HALO considered French Guyana to be non-
core. Subsequently the Group has committed very 
little cost or resource to the asset and would expect 
to continue to do so. The joint venture is currently 
contemplating the path forward for the permit.
 
The joint venture budget for 2016 is minimal, with no major 
works planned while the future of the permit is being 
considered. French Guyana remains prospective, in the 
Company’s opinion, given the expenditures to date and the 
relatively small portion of the licence having been explored 
with drilling. The focus in 2016 will be to review these under-
explored areas of the licence.

East Africa

The Juan de Nova Permit expired on 30 December 2013 and 
has been suspended since then awaiting determination by 
the French Authorities of the renewal application. HALO was 
disappointed at the lack of progress in the previous pursuit 
of the renewal of its Juan de Nova Permit with little progress 
having been made over the course of 2015. The Company 
is unlikely to pursue the renewal any further. A cost, risk and 
benefit analysis indicated that the Permit no longer fits within 
the portfolio and corporate strategy.

Maghreb Exploration Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
HALO) and Comet Petroleum (SADR) Limited (a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Tower Resources plc) each hold a 50% interest in 
three licence blocks under Assurance Agreements in the SADR 
- Bojador, Guelta and Imlili.

In June 2015, HALO received confirmation from 
the authorities that all three licences have been 
extended to December 2020. The Company, and 
partner, plans only a care and maintenance budget  
in 2016 with very little, if any, capital committed. 
The blocks remain prospective with drilling having 
taken place in an overlapping claim permit in 2015. 
The well proved the existence of a hydrocarbon 
system and HALO watches the situation closely 
with respect to recent, renewed diplomatic efforts 
to resolve the political situation in Western Sahara 
during 2016.

French Guyana Western Sahara (SADR)
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The Company’s strategy is to build shareholder 
value through the exploration and development 
of its existing assets, while seeking potential 
new opportunities. In pursuit of these aims, the 
Company’s management utilises its technical and 
financial expertise and connections to partner with 
other, like-minded companies in making applications 
for new exploration acreage.

Business Review

On 12 May 2014, HALO (formerly Wessex Exploration PLC) 
announced it had exchanged Heads of Agreement for the 
proposed acquisition of Hague and London Oil BV, led by an 
established management team and holding a prospective 
asset, on which oil has been discovered, in the Philippines.  
This acquisition closed on 31 October 2014 and brought with  
it an additional US$1 million of cash resources.

In May 2015, the Company’s subsidiary, Wessex Hydrocarbons 
Limited, was awarded UK blocks 98/7b, 98/8a and 98/12 
(northern part), in the 28th Seaward Round. 

On 23 September 2015 HALO announced that it had entered 
into a conditional agreement to acquire a material interest in 
the Duyung Production Sharing Contract (PSC).

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Operating in the oil and gas sector involves a number of risks. 
The directors have extensive experience in this business and 
attempt to mitigate these risks wherever possible but the 
Company is reliant on third party operators in most of its 
ventures and may have little control on cost overruns, timing 
issues, drilling problems and environmental damage.  In 
addition, the Company has no control over political issues 
including changes in licence terms, increased taxation and 
conflicts that may lead to temporary or permanent cessation of 
activities.

There are also considerable uncertainties in the estimation of 
the chance of success for particular exploration prospects, the 
potential resources they could contain and volumes of oil and 
gas actually discovered. 

The Directors utilise the Company’s Health, Safety and 
Environmental Policies and other internal controls, together 
with their strong relationships with operators and other 
companies to help predict, understand and, where possible, 
mitigate risks and uncertainties in the Company’s business.

The Directors have identified the following current principal 
risks in relation to the Company’s performance in the future.

Access to capital markets: The Company, in common with 
exploration companies at a similar stage of development, is reliant 
on the ability to raise money from capital markets to finance 
future exploration activities. In the current market downturn, 

access to new capital and the ability to issue new shares may 
be restricted. This may impact on the Company’s ability to fund 
existing operations and new exploration opportunities.

Liquidity Risk: The board of directors are provided with 
monthly updates of rolling 12-month cash flow forecasts to 
ensure that any liquidity risks are identified and quantified and 
that steps are taken to mitigate them. 

Cost escalation: The board closely monitors actual 
expenditure against pre-approved work programmes and 
budgets. However, given the uncertainties inherent in the 
oil and gas industry, cost over-runs are a constant risk factor. 
To mitigate the risk, before embarking on a new operational 
commitment, the Company conducts a rigorous tendering and 
contract award process to ensure work is contracted to suitably 
qualified and experienced service providers. 

Political and fiscal risk: Some of the Company’s assets are 
located in countries where political and fiscal stability is not 
guaranteed. In the case of SADR, the licences are in a territory 
currently in a sovereignty dispute with Morocco. Until this 
issue is resolved, the Company is unable to progress with its 
exploration programme. The Company holds a diverse portfolio 
of assets across a broad geographical area and will not commit 
capital until the political and fiscal situation is stable in a given 
jurisdiction.

Approval of the Board

This Strategic Report contains certain forward-looking 
statements that are subject to the usual risk factors and 
uncertainties associated with the oil and gas exploration, 
appraisal, development and production business. While the 
directors believe the expectations reflected within the Annual 
Report to be reasonable in light of the information available up 
to the time of their approval of this report, the actual outcome 
may be different owing to factors either beyond the Company’s 
control or otherwise within the Company’s control, for example 
owing to a change of plan or strategy. Accordingly, no reliance 
may be placed on the forward-looking statements.

On behalf of the Board

Andrew Cochran
Chairman
30 March 2016

Strategic Report
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Share options 31 December 2015 30 June 2014 * Weighted average  Range of Weighted average
   exercise price exercise prices contractual life
	 4p shares 0.1p shares   

Dr M Butler 125,000 5,000,000 400p 400p 3 years
Mr I Patrick n/a 2,000,000 280p 280p 3 years
Mr A Yeo n/a 15,000,000 280p 200p-400p 3 years
 
* Before 40:1 consolidation

Details of individual share option grants are shown in the tables below:
 
Grant date:   Number of Exercise price Vesting date Expiry date
20th July 2012  options granted

Dr M Butler  125,000 400p 20 July 20 July 2022
    2013-2015*  

* The vesting period is one, two and three years from the date of grant – one third of the options vesting in each period.

Directors’ Remuneration

The remuneration of the directors for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015 was as follows:

  Salaries, Fees and Compensation for loss of office Pension Contributions
  18 months to  12 months to 18 months to 12 months to

  December 2015 June 2014 December 2015 June 2014

Dr M Butler                              144,000 93,500 18,333 22,000
Mr A Yeo                                 248,562 127,500 48,750 33,750
Mr I Patrick                                                             48,750 41,250 - -
Mr A Cochran  231,145 - - -
Mr W Phelps  31,634 - - -

In addition to the remuneration shown above, the Group incurred share-based payment charges of £57,805  
(2014: £191,179) in respect of the above named directors. In relation to the remuneration relating to  
Andrew Cochran, £172,311 remains outstanding and has not yet been paid.

A copy of the Service Agreement in respect of each of the directors is available for inspection at the Company’s 
Registered Office.

The directors present their report together with the 
consolidated financial statements of HALO and its subsidiaries 
for the period ended 31 December 2015.

Principal activity and business review

The principal activity of the Group remained the exploration for 
oil and gas. Significant developments during the period, as well 
as future prospects and strategy for the Group, are reviewed in 
the Chairman’s Statement and the Strategic Report.

Results and dividends

The Group loss for the 18 month financial period ended  
31 December 2015 was £6.51 million (12 months to June 2014: 
loss of £6.87m). The Directors do not recommend the payment 
of a dividend.

Going concern

At 31 December 2015 the Group had cash balances of 
£0.3m and management forecasts indicate that it will 
require additional funds in 2016 to maintain sufficient cash 
resources for its current working capital needs over the next 
twelve months. The Directors are confident that they can 
raise sufficient funds from new or existing investors or from 
a restructuring of the portfolio, despite the current market 
conditions.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group 
will have adequate resources to continue operating for 
the foreseeable future and continue to meet its planned 
commitments and liabilities for at least twelve months from  
the date these financial statements have been approved.  
For this reason the Directors continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

Directors

The directors in office during the period and at the end of the 
period are shown below:

Andrew Cochran (appointed 31/10/2014) 
William Phelps (appointed 31/10/2014)
Malcolm Butler 
Andrew Yeo (resigned 12/01/2015) 
Iain Patrick  (resigned 12/12/2014) 

Directors interests in the shares of the Company as at 30 June 
2014 and 31 December 2015, were as shown in the table 
below.

 31 December 2015 30 June 2014

 number number *

Ordinary Shares 4.0p 0.1p
Dr M Butler 35,000 1,400,000
Mr I Patrick n/a 930,000
Mr A Yeo n/a 5,500,000
Mr A Cochran 2,581,469 -
Mr W Phelps 1,596,030 -

* Before 40:1 consolidation

Report of the Directors

for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Report of the 
Directors and the Financial Statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors 
have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, 
and the Parent Company Financial Statements in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(United Kingdom Reporting Standards and applicable law).

Under company law the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and 
of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors 
are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

•  make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and the 
Group will continue in business;

•  state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union have been followed subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
and the Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for ensuring that they meet 
their responsibilities under the AIM Rules for Companies.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015Substantial shareholdings

Except for the holdings of ordinary shares listed below, the 
Company is not aware of any persons holding 3% or more of 
the 24,133,586 issued ordinary shares of the Company at the 
date of approval of these financial statements.

 Number %

Andrew Cochran 2,581,469 10.7%
Frederik Dekker 2,054,000 8.5%
Sector Fund Limited 1,675,000 6.9%
William Phelps 1,596,030 6.6%
Quoram PLC 926,670 3.8%
Paul Richards 752,438 3.1%

Payment Policy and Practice

It is the Group’s policy to pay suppliers on the terms agreed 
with them. Average creditor days during the period were 15 
(2014:18).

Auditor

A resolution to reappoint the auditor, Nexia Smith & Williamson 
Audit Limited, will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

Disclosure of Information to the Auditor

The directors at the date of approval of this Annual Report 
individually confirm that:
• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
• the director has taken all the steps that he ought to have 
taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditor is aware of that information.
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in 
accordance with the provision of Section 418 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

Company Name and Registered Number

The registered number of Hague and London Oil PLC is 
03793723.

On behalf of the Board

Andrew Cochran
Director
30 March 2016
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The Company’s securities are traded on the AIM Market of the 
London Stock Exchange. The Group has considered the Quoted 
Company Alliance Corporate Governance Code for Small and 
Mid-size Quoted Companies issued in 2013.

There follows a brief description of the role of the Board and 
its Committees, and details of the Group’s systems of internal 
financial control, which the Board continues to keep under review.

The Board

During the period the Board of directors of Hague and London 
Oil PLC consisted of one executive director, who acted as 
Chairman and Interim Chief Executive Officer, and two non-
executive directors, who were responsible for the proper 
management of the Group. 

The Board will meet at least four times in the coming year to 
review trading performance and budgets, ensure adequate 
funding, set and monitor strategy, examine acquisition 
opportunities and report to shareholders. The Board has a formal 
schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for decisions. 

The following Committees deal with specific aspects of the 
Group’s affairs:

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises Malcolm Butler, who 
acts as its Chairman, and William Phelps. It determines the 
employment terms and total remuneration of the executive 
directors and senior management.

The Committee makes recommendations to the Board on overall 
remuneration for the executive directors in order to attract, retain 
and motivate high quality executives capable of achieving the 
Group’s objectives. The package comprises basic salary, share 
options and pension payments. Directors’ remuneration for the 
year is shown in the Report of the Directors.

Those disclosures form part of this report.

The remuneration of non-executive directors is determined by 
the Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises William Phelps, who acts as its 
Chairman, and Malcolm Butler. The Committee is responsible 
for considering a wide range of financial matters. It monitors 
the controls that are in place to ensure the integrity of the 
financial information reported to shareholders.
This Committee also provides a forum for reporting by the 
Group’s auditors. The Chief Financial Officer may attend 
meetings by invitation.

Internal Financial Control

The directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
the Group’s internal financial control systems. These are designed 
to meet the particular needs of the Group and the risks to which 
it is exposed, and by their nature can provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The key procedures that the directors have established to 
provide effective internal financial controls are:

•  Corporate Accounting and Procedures 
Responsibilities are communicated throughout the Group as 
part of the corporate communication procedure. Delegation 
of authority and authorisation limits, segregation of duties 
and other control procedures, together with the Company 
culture are included in these communications, and standard 
accounting procedures are in place to reflect this.

•  Quality and Integrity of Personnel 
The integrity and competence of personnel is ensured 
through high recruitment standards and subsequent training. 
The quality of personnel is regarded as a critical part of the 
control environment and the ethical standards expected are 
communicated through senior members of staff and other 
communication channels.

•  Identification of Business Risks
The Board is responsible for identifying the major business risks 
faced by the Group and for determining the appropriate course 
of action to manage these risks.

•  Financial Reporting
The Group has a comprehensive system for reporting financial 
results to the Board.

•  Investment Appraisal
Capital expenditure is regulated by authorisation limits. For 
expenditure beyond the specified limits, detailed proposals are 
submitted to the Board. If an interest in a new project is being 
acquired, appropriate due diligence is undertaken.

•  Audit Committee
The Audit Committee monitors, through reports made to it, 
the controls that are in force and any perceived gaps in the 
control environment. The Audit Committee also considers and 
determines relevant action in respect of any control issues 
raised by the external auditor.

By order of the Board

Brian Marshall FCA
Company Secretary
30 March 2016

Corporate Governance Report

for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015
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We have audited the group financial statements of Hague 
and London Oil PLC (“the Company“) for the 18 month period 
ended 31 December 2015 which comprise the Principal 
Accounting Policies, the Consolidated Income Statement, 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
Consolidated Balance Sheet, Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and 
the related notes 1 to 27. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union. 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors  
and Auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 19 the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Financial Reporting Council’s (FRC’s) Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

Scope of the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements 
is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on Financial Statements

In our opinion:
•  the group financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of 
the Group’s loss for the period then ended;
•  the group financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; 
•  the group financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Emphasis of Matter – going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is 
not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the group 
disclosure made in the Principal Accounting Policies regarding 
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. The going 
concern status of the Group is dependent upon securing 
future funding arrangements.

Management forecasts indicate that if they are unable 
to manage the Group’s forecast spending or a planned 
external fundraise does not occur, the Group would have a 
requirement to seek alternative sources of funding.

These conditions, along with the other matters explained in 
the Principal Accounting Policies, indicate the existence of a 
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial 
statements do not include the adjustments that result if the 
Group was unable to continue as a going concern.

Opinion on Other Matters Prescribed by 
the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report 
and the Report of the Directors for the financial period 
for which the group financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the group financial statements.
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on 
Group Financial Statements 
to the Members of Hague and London Oil PLC
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Matters on which we are Required to Report 
by Exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 

in our opinion:
•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or
•  we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

Other Matter

We have reported separately upon the parent company 
financial statements of Hague and London Oil Plc for the 
period ended 31 December 2015. That report includes an 
emphasis of matter.

Carl Deane
Senior Statutory Auditor,
for and on behalf of

Nexia Smith & Williamson Audit Limited
Statutory Auditor and Chartered Accountants
Portwall Place
Portwall Lane
Bristol BS1 6NA
United Kingdom

30 March 2016
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for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015

    Notes 18 months ended 12 months ended

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Loss for the financial period  (6,513,828) (6,872,989)
    

Other comprehensive expense   
Currency translation adjustments   (66,432) - 
    

Other comprehensive expense for the financial  
  period, net of tax  (66,432) -
    
Total comprehensive loss for the financial period  (6,580,260) (6,872,989)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Income Statement

for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015

    Notes 18 months ended 12 months ended

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Revenue  - -
    
    
Administrative expenses  (2,964,219) (1,856,244)
    
     
Operating loss 3 (2,964,219) (1,856,244)
Finance income  5 2,982 6,314
Share of losses of joint ventures 12 (3,552,591) (5,023,059)
    
     
Loss before taxation  (6,513,828) (6,872,989)
Taxation  6  -
    
     
Loss for the financial period  (6,513,828) (6,872,989)
     
    
Attributable to:    
Equity shareholders of the Company  (6,513,828) (6,872,989)
    
    
Loss per share    
Basic and diluted loss per share (pence) 7 (28.6) (38.0)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



28 Annual Report 2015   Hague and London Oil PLC Hague and London Oil PLC   Annual Report 2015 29

for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015

	 Share  Share Merger Retained Share-based Translation Total
 capital premium reserve earnings payment reserve 
  account account  reserve 
 £ £ £ £ £  £ £

Balance at 1 July 2014 724,343 16,800,122 - (13,265,432) 1,078,182 - 5,337,215
For the financial period ended 
  31 December 2015      
Loss for the period - - - (6,513,828) - - (6,513,828)
Currency translation 
  differences - - - - - (66,432) (66,432)

Total comprehensive loss - - - (6,513,828) - (66,432) (6,580,260)
Share option expense - - - - 83,770 - 83,770
Issue of shares 241,000 - 1,060,400 - - - 1,301,400

Balance at 31 December 2015 965,343 16,800,122 1,060,400 (19,779,260) 1,161,952 (66,432) 142,125

      
Balance at 1 July 2013 724,343 16,800,122 - (6,392,443) 844,228 - 11,976,250
For the financial year ended 
  30 June 2014
Loss for the year - - - (6,872,989) - - (6,872,989)

Total comprehensive loss - - - (6,872,989) - - (6,872,989)
Share option expense - - - - 233,954 - 233,954

Balance at 30 June 2014 724,343 16,800,122 - (13,265,432) 1,078,182 - 5,337,215

The merger reserve account of £1,060,400 relates to the acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of Hague and 
London Oil B.V. in October 2014, in which consideration was satisfied by the issue of 241,000,000 ordinary shares in 
the Company.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

as at 31 December 2015

    Notes December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Assets
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 9 19,538 -
Intangible assets 10 - -
Investments in joint ventures 12 - 3,467,422
     
  19,538 3,467,422

Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 13 87,884 47,318
Cash and cash equivalents 14 277,924 1,905,416 
    
  365,808 1,952,734
     

Total assets 385,346 5,420,156

    
Equity and liabilities    
Capital and reserves attributable to 
the Company’s equity shareholders    
Share capital  15 965,343 724,343
Share premium account  16,800,122 16,800,122
Merger reserve account  1,060,400 -
Share-based payments reserve  1,161,952 1,078,182
Retained earnings  (19,779,260) (13,265,432)
Translation reserve  (66,432) -
     
Total equity  142,125 5,337,215
     
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables  21 243,221 82,941
    
Total liabilities  243,221 82,941
     
    
Total equity and liabilities 385,346         5,420,156

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

Andrew Cochran
Director

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. Principal Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The statutory group financial statements of Hague and London 
Oil PLC (“the Group”) have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted 
by the European Union (“EU”) applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

IFRS are subject to amendment and interpretation by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee, and there is an on-going process of 
review and endorsement by the European Commission. These 
accounting policies comply with each IFRS that is mandatory 
for accounting periods beginning on 1 July 2014. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention. The principal accounting policies set out below 
have been consistently applied to all periods presented.

Going concern basis of preparation
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely 
to affect its future development and performance, are set out in 
the Chairman’s Statement and Project Review. At 31 December 
2015 the Group had cash balances of £0.3m and management 
forecasts indicate that the Group will require additional funds in 
2016. The Directors are confident that they can raise sufficient 
funds from new or existing investors or from a restructuring of 
the portfolio, despite the current market conditions.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group 
will have adequate resources to continue operating for 
the foreseeable future and continue to meet its planned 
commitments and liabilities for at least twelve months from the 
date these financial statements have been approved. For this 
reason the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing these financial statements.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of 
the Company and entities controlled by the Company. Control 
is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities. 

These financial statements consolidate the results and Balance 
Sheet of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries 
using the acquisition method of accounting. Details of the 
subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 4 of the Parent Company 
Financial Statements. 

Entities whose economic activities are controlled jointly by the 
Group and by other venturers independent of the Group are 
accounted for using equity accounting.

Intra-Group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
Transactions, balances, income and expenses with Jointly 
Controlled Operations are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in these entities.

Jointly Controlled Operations
The Group participates in several Jointly Controlled Operations 
(unincorporated Joint Ventures), which involve the joint control 
of assets used in the Group’s oil and gas exploration activities. 
The Group accounts for its share of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenditure of Jointly Controlled Operations in which it 
holds an interest, classified in the appropriate Balance Sheet 
and Income Statement headings. 

A list of the Group’s interests in unincorporated Jointly 
Controlled Operations is given in Note 11. 

Jointly Controlled Entities
Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of 
a separate entity in which each venturer has an interest are 
referred to as jointly controlled entities. 

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities 
are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments 
in jointly controlled entities are carried in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of the net assets of the jointly controlled 
entities, less any impairment in the value of individual 
investments. 

Losses of a jointly controlled entity in excess of the Group’s 
interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes any 
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s 
net investment in the jointly controlled entity) are recognised 
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
jointly controlled entity.

Where a Group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity 
of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the relevant jointly controlled entity.

Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker as required by IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. The chief 
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors.

Segment expenses are expenses that are directly attributable 
to a segment together with the relevant portion of expenses 
that can be reasonably allocated to the segment. Unallocated 
expenses relate to corporate head office expenses not 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015

    Notes 18 months ended 12 months ended

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Cash flow from operating activities 27 (2,177,393) (858,599)
     
    
Cash flow from investing activities    
Purchase of intangible assets  (43,098) (26,409)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (24,644) -
Investments in joint ventures  (85,169) (1,498,907)
Interest received   2,982                  6,314
     
Net cash used in investing activities  (149,929) (1,519,002)
    
Cash flow from financing activities    
Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary 8 624,360 -
    
Net cash generated from financing activities  624,360 -
    
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (1,702,962) (2,377,601)

Impact of Foreign Exchange on cash balances  75,470                    (159,241)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial period  1,905,416 4,442,258
    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial period 14 277,924 1,905,416

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



32 Annual Report 2015   Hague and London Oil PLC Hague and London Oil PLC   Annual Report 2015 33

Following evaluation of successful exploration wells, if 
commercial reserves are established and the technical 
feasibility of extraction demonstrated, and once a project is 
sanctioned for commercial development, then the related 
capitalised exploration/evaluation costs are transferred into 
a single field cost centre within development/producing 
assets after testing for impairment within Property, Plant and 
Equipment. Where results of exploration drilling indicate the 
presence of hydrocarbons that are ultimately not considered 
commercially viable, all related costs are written off to the 
Income Statement.

All costs incurred after the technical feasibility and commercial 
viability of producing hydrocarbons has been demonstrated 
are capitalised within development/producing assets on a field 
by field basis. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only where 
it either enhances the economic benefits of the development/
producing asset or replaces part of the existing development/
producing asset. Any costs remaining associated with the part 
replaced are expensed.

Net proceeds from any disposal of an exploration asset are 
initially credited against the previously capitalised costs. Any 
surplus proceeds are credited to the Income Statement. 

Plug and suspend and demobilisation costs have been 
included within the exploration costs where the directors 
consider that these costs will be material at the end of each 
project’s life.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost 
less depreciation less any recognised impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of these items. Subsequent costs 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Group and the costs can be measured 
reliably. All other costs, including repairs and maintenance 
costs, are charged to the Income Statement in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment 
and is calculated on a reducing basis as follows:
Plant and equipment 25%

Depreciation is provided on cost less residual value. The 
residual value, depreciation methods and useful lives are 
annually reassessed.

Each asset’s estimated useful life has been assessed with 
regard to both its own physical life limitations and the present 
assessment of economically recoverable reserves of the 
mine property at which the item is located, and to possible 
future variations in those assessments. Estimates of remaining 
useful lives are made on a regular basis for all mine buildings, 
machinery and equipment, with annual reassessments for 
major items. Changes in estimates which affect unit production 

calculation are accounted for prospectively.
Where property, plant and equipment has been acquired for 
the purposes of exploration, and technical feasibility of the 
project has yet to be established, the depreciation on the 
property, plant and equipment is added back to the cost of the 
intangible assets within exploration costs.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or scrapping of an asset is 
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds, net 
of selling costs, and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the Income Statement. 

Impairment of Assets Other than Intangible Assets with 
an Indefinite Life 
At each balance sheet date, the directors review the carrying 
amounts of the Group’s tangible and intangible assets, other 
than intangible assets with an indefinite life, to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where the 
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from 
other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an 
expense immediately. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to 
the extent that it does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior periods. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the Income 
Statement immediately. 

Current Taxation
Current tax for each taxable entity in the Group is based on the 
local taxable income at the local statutory tax rate enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and includes 
adjustments to tax payable or recoverable in respect of 
previous periods.

Deferred Taxation 
Deferred taxation is calculated using the liability method, on 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 

recharged to the Company’s subsidiaries or allocated to a 
business segment. Segment assets and liabilities include items 
that are directly attributable to a segment.

Finance Income
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
deposits held at call with banks. 

Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on 
the Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition 
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Foreign Currency
The functional and presentational currency for both the 
Company’s financial statements and the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements is Sterling. 

Foreign currency transactions by Group companies are 
recorded in their functional currencies at the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities have 
been translated at rates in effect at the balance sheet date, with 
any exchange adjustments being charged or credited to the 
Income Statement.

Share-Based Payments
Where share options and warrants have been granted to 
directors, employees and advisers, IFRS 2 has been applied, 
whereby the fair value of the services to be received are 
accounted for and calculated by reference to the fair value of 
the options and warrants as measured at the grant date. 
The fair value of options is spread over the period during which 
the employees become entitled to the options. The fair value of 
warrants is expensed immediately.

A valuation model is used to assess the fair value, taking into 
account the terms and conditions attached to the options 
and warrants. The fair value of goods and services received 
is measured by reference to the fair value of options and 
warrants. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 

with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired 
and the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest.

The profit or loss charge or credit for a period represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the 
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of 
whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that 
all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the 
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms 
had not been modified. An additional expense is recognised 
for any modification, which increases the total fair value of the 
share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial 
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 

Exploration Costs
The Group follows a successful efforts based accounting policy 
for oil and gas assets.

Costs (including research costs) incurred prior to obtaining the 
legal rights to explore an area are expensed immediately to the 
Income Statement.

Expenditure incurred on the acquisition of a licence interest 
is initially capitalised on a licence by licence basis. Costs are 
held, un-depleted, within exploration costs until such a time 
as the exploration phase on the licence area is complete or 
commercial reserves have been discovered.

Exploration expenditure incurred in the process of determining 
exploration targets is capitalised initially within intangible 
assets as exploration costs. Exploration costs are initially 
capitalised on a well by well basis until the success or 
otherwise has been established. The success or failure of each 
exploration/evaluation effort is judged on a well by well basis. 
Drilling costs are written off on completion of a well unless 
the results indicate that hydrocarbon reserves exist and there 
is reasonable prospect that these reserves are commercially 
viable. 

All such costs are subject to regular technical, commercial and 
management review on at least an annual basis to confirm the 
continued intent to develop or otherwise extract value from 
the discovery. Where this is no longer the case, the costs are 
immediately expensed.
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Exploration and Evaluation Costs
The Group’s accounting policy leads to the development of 
tangible and intangible fixed assets, where it is considered 
likely that the amount will be recoverable by future exploitation 
or sale, or alternatively where the activities have not reached a 
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence 
of reserves. This requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions as to the future events and circumstances, 
especially in relation to whether an economically viable 
extraction operation can be established. Such estimates are 
subject to change and following initial capitalisation, should it 
become apparent that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, 
the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to the 
Income Statement. 

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
Management reviews property, plant and equipment at 
each balance sheet date to determine whether there are 
any indications of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
an estimate of the recoverable amount is performed, and an 
impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying 
amount exceeds recoverable amount.

Share-Based Payments
In determining the fair value of equity settled share-based 
payments and the related charge to the Income Statement, the 
Company makes assumptions about future events and market 
conditions; in particular, judgement must be made as to the 
likely number of shares that will vest, and the fair value of each 
award granted. The fair value is determined using a valuation 
model which is dependent on further estimates, including 
the Company’s future dividend policy, the timing with which 
options will be exercised and the future volatility in the price of 
the Company’s shares.

Different assumptions about these factors to those made by 
the Company could materially affect the reported value of 
share-based payments.

and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, if the deferred tax arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not 
recognised. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Employment Benefits
Provision is made in the financial statements for all employee 
benefits. Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefit and annual leave obliged to be settled within 
12 months of the balance sheet date, are recognised in accruals.

The Group’s contributions to directors’ pension plans are charged 
to the Income Statement in the period to which they relate.

Equity
Equity comprises the following:
• “Share capital” represents amounts subscribed for shares at 
nominal value.
• “Share premium” represents amounts subscribed for share 
capital, net of issue costs, in excess of nominal value.
• “Merger reserve” represents the fair value of consideration 
given in excess of nominal value of the ordinary shares issued, 
in an acquisition made by the issue of shares.
• “Retained earnings” represents the accumulated profits and 
losses attributable to equity shareholders.
• “Share-based payment reserve” represents the accumulated 
amounts credited to equity in respect of options to acquire 
ordinary shares in the Company.

International Financial Reporting Standards in Issue 
but not yet Effective 
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial 
statements, the IASB and IFRS Interpretations Committee 
have issued standards, interpretations and amendments 
which are applicable to the Group. Whilst these standards and 
interpretations are not effective for, and have not been applied 
in the preparation of, these consolidated financial statements, 
the following may have a material impact going forward.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of 
Estimation Uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting practice requires management 
to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Reserve Estimates
Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be 
economically and legally extracted from the Group’s properties. 
In order to calculate the reserves, estimates and assumptions 
are required about a range of geological, technical and 
economic factors, including quantities, production techniques, 
recovery rates, production costs, transport costs, commodity 
demand, commodity prices and exchange rates.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the 
size, shape and depth of fields to be determined by analysing 
geological data such as drilling samples. This process may 
require complex and difficult geological judgements and 
calculations to interpret the data.

Given that the economic assumptions used to estimate 
reserves change from period to period, and because additional 
geological data is generated during the course of operations, 
estimates of reserves may change from period to period. 
Changes in reported reserves may affect the Group’s financial 
results and financial position in a number of ways, including 
the following:
• Asset carrying values may be affected by possible 
impairment due to adverse changes in estimated future cash 
flows;
• Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in the 
Income Statement may change where such charges are 
determined by the units of production basis, or where the 
useful economic lives of assets change.

 New/Revised International Effective Date: EU adopted  Impact on Hague and London Oil PLC
 Financial Reporting Standards Annual periods
  beginning on or after:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 No Impact still being calculated
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
 with customers 1 January 2018 No Impact still being calculated
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 No Impact still being calculated
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3. Operating Loss

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting):   
   
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the  
annual financial statements  24,500 19,000
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for  
other services to the Group:   
Audit-related assurance services  14,250 2,600
Tax compliance services  7,250 10,972
        Tax advisory services  - 745
        The audit of the Company’s subsidiary pursuant to   
          legislation  1,500    1,500
Depreciation  5,106 729
Impairment of Joint Venture investments  3,552,591 -
Impairment of intangible assets  1,169,169 591,263
Release of contingent consideration provision  (161,203) -
Foreign Exchange  (142,927) 159,241

4. Directors and Employees

The aggregate payroll costs of the employees, including both management and executive directors, were as follows:

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Staff costs   
Wages and salaries  841,552 270,250
Social security costs  52,753 31,144
Pension costs  67,084 55,750
   
  961,389 357,144
   
Equity settled share-based payments  57,805 191,179
   
  1,019,194 548,323

Average monthly number of persons employed by the Group during the period was:

     December 2015 June 2014

     Number  Number

    
Management  3 3
Administrative  2 1
Technical  1 -

  6 4

2. Segmental Reporting

Operating segments
The Group has only one operating segment: the exploration and future development of hydrocarbon projects, 
principally in the UK/Netherlands, French Guyana and the Philippines.  

A split of the geographical segments is as follows:

18 months ended 31 December 2015 UK/ French Philippines Other Total
 Netherlands Guyana   
 £ £ £  £ £

Operating loss (1,784,070) - (1,120,147) (60,002) (2,964,219)
Finance income 2,982 - - - 2,982
Share of loss of joint ventures - (3,552,591) - - (3,552,591)

Loss before taxation (1,781,088) (3,552,591) (1,120,147) (60,002) (6,513,828)
Taxation - - - - -
    
Loss for the period (1,781,088)	 (3,552,591)	 (1,120,147)	 (60,002)	 (6,513,828)		
     
Total assets 368,416 - 2,333 14,597 385,346
Total liabilities (242,734) - (163) (324) (243,221)

Net assets 125,682	 -	 2,170	 14,273	 142,125	 
    
Investment in joint ventures - 85,169 - - 85,169
Capital expenditure 57,763 - 9,980 - 67,743
Depreciation 5,106 - - - 5,106
Impairment 33,118 - 1,136,051 - 1,169,169
Share-based payment costs 83,770 - - - 83,770

Year ended 30 June 2014  UK French Other Total
   Guyana projects 
  £ £ £  £

Operating loss  (1,806,144) - (50,100) (1,856,244)
Finance income  6,314 - -               6,314        
Share of loss of joint ventures  - (5,023,059) - (5,023,059)

Loss before taxation  (1,799,830) (5,023,059) (50,100) (6,872,989)
Taxation  - - - -
    
Loss for the year  (1,799,830) (5,023,059) (50,100) (6,872,989)
    
Total assets  1,948,889 3,467,422 3,845 5,420,156
Total liabilities  (81,441) - (1,500) (82,941)

Net assets  1,867,448 3,467,422 2,345 5,337,215
    
Investment in joint ventures  - 1,498,907 - 1,498,907
Capital expenditure  26,409 - - 26,409
Depreciation   729 - - 729
Impairment  591,263 - - 591,263
Share-based payment costs  233,954 - - 233,954
    
The results of each segment have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with those of the Group as a whole.
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6. Taxation 

There was no current or deferred tax charge for the period due to the loss incurred (2014: £nil).

Reconciliation of the effective tax charge 

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Loss before taxation  (6,513,828) (6,872,989)
Loss before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax  
  in the UK 21.5% (2014: 22.5%)  (1,400,473) (1,546,423)
   
Tax effects of:   
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  17,013 22,404
Impairment of joint venture investments 
  not deductible for tax purposes  763,807 -
Capital allowances for period in excess of depreciation  - 166
Deferred tax losses not recognised within the period  619,653        1,523,853            
     
Total Tax expense  - -

The amount of unused tax losses is as follows:

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Unutilised trading losses  6,576,159 5,956,506

A deferred tax asset in respect of trading losses has not been recognised due to the uncertainty over timing of future 
profits.  
This unprovided deferred tax asset is recoverable against suitable future trading profits.

4. Directors and Employees (continued)

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Compensation of key management was as follows:   
Short term benefits  516,491 262,250
Compensation for loss of office  187,600 -
Share-based payments  57,805 191,179
Post-employment benefits (pension costs)  67,084 55,750
   
  828,980 509,179
   
Social security costs  52,753 30,897
   
  881,733 540,076

Key management consists of all the directors. 
The number of directors accruing benefits under money purchase pension scheme arrangements was 2 (2014: 2).
Details of each Director’s remuneration and their share options are included in the Report of the Directors.

Highest paid director

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Remuneration  113,462 127,500
Compensation for loss of office  135,100 -
Share-based payments  41,525 106,360
Pension contributions  48,750 33,750
   
Aggregate emoluments and benefits  338,837 267.610

5. Finance Income

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Bank interest  2,982 6,314
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8. Acquisition of subsidiary

On 31 October 2014, the Company announced that it had acquired 100% of the share capital of Hague and London 
Oil B.V. (“HALO BV”). Consideration for the acquisition was satisfied by the issue to the vendors of 241,000,000 ordinary 
shares in the Company, representing approximately 25% of the enlarged capital. HALO B.V. holds a 15% interest in 
Offshore Service Contract SC54A, a prospective asset in the Philippines. At the date of acquisition, HALO B.V. held 
US$1m in cash.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:

      £
    
Intangible assets 1,126,071
Trade and other receivables 6,663
Cash and cash equivalents 624,360
Trade and other payables (9,745)
Accruals (275,034)
Provision for deferred consideration (170,915)

Total purchase consideration 1,301,400

Represented by:

Issue of shares 1,301,400

Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiary

      £
    
Consideration paid in cash -
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired 624,360

The total purchase consideration is equal to the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of HALO BV at the 
date of the acquisition. From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2015, HALO BV contributed a loss of £351,541 
to the losses of the Group. If the acquisition had been completed on 1 July 2014, additional losses of £240,140 would 
have been recorded in the Group results. 

7. Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Given the Group’s reported loss for the period share options are not taken into account when determining the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period and therefore the basic and diluted earnings 
per share are the same.

Basic and diluted loss per share

     December 2015 June 2014

     Pence  Pence

    
Loss per share from continuing operations  (28.6) (38.0)

The loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as 
follows:

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Loss used in the calculation of total basic and diluted earnings per share (6,513,828)   (6,872,989)

     December 2015 June 2014

     Number  Number

    
Number of shares   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes  
  of basic and diluted earnings per share  22,794,698    18,108,587

The number of shares for the period ended 31 December 2015 takes into account the 40:1 share consolidation which 
took effect in December 2014. The numbers of shares for comparative periods have been restated accordingly.

The Company’s share options have not been taken into consideration in respect of the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares for the purposes of the diluted earnings per share. At the current market price of the Company’s shares, the 
options would have no impact on earnings per share.
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10. Intangible Assets 

	      Exploration costs
      £
    
Cost 
At 1 July 2013   1,467,875
Additions   26,409
 
At 30 June 2014   1,494,284
Acquired in business combinations   1,126,071
Additions   43,098
  
At 31 December 2015   2,663,453
 
Amortisation and impairment 
At 1 July 2013   903,021
Impairment   591,263
 
At 30 June 2014   1,494,284
Impairment   1,169,169
  
At 31 December 2015   2,663,453
 
Net book value 
At 31 December 2015   -
 
At 30 June 2014   -
 
At 30 June 2013   564,854

Management reviews each exploration project for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date. 

Such indications would include abandoned wells, relinquishment of acreage under licence and a deterioration in 
market conditions.

As a result of the sharp decline in market conditions arising from the drop in oil price during the period, the Group 
took the decision to impair in full the intangible assets relating to SC54 in the Philippines of £1,136,051, and a further 
£33,118 relating to the Bournemouth Bay assets. The impairment loss has been included in administrative expenses.

9. Property, Plant and Equipment 

	      Plant and equipment
      £
    
Cost  
At 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2014   11,529
Additions   24,644
  
At 31 December 2015   36,173
  
Accumulated depreciation  
At 30 June 2013   10,800
Charge    729
  
At 30 June 2014                11,529
Charge    5,106
  
At 31 December 2015   16,635
  
Net book value 
   
At 31 December 2015   19,538
  
At 30 June 2014   -
  
At 30 June 2013   729
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The following amounts are included in the Group financial statements within investments as a result of the 
consolidation of Northpet Investments Limited:

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Income  - -
Expenses     (3,552,591) (5,023,059)
Assets:   
- Non-current assets  - 3,468,130
- Current assets  - 77,414
Liabilities:   
- Current liabilities  - (78,122)

The Joint Venture had no capital commitments in respect of the Guyane project as at 31 December 2015  
(2014: £80,000).

There were no contingent liabilities at 31 December 2015 (2014: £nil)

The Guyane Maritime Exclusive Licence interest is held through a 44.11% interest in the share capital of Northpet 
Investments Limited (“Northpet”), which holds a 2.5% direct working interest. The remaining 55.89% shareholding is 
held by NP Offshore Holdings (UK) Limited (“NP”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Northern Petroleum plc (“NOP”).  
The operation of Northpet is controlled by a Shareholders’ Agreement signed between HALO and NP on 9 July 2008 
as amended on 14 April 2014. NP has the right to appoint the Chairman of the Board.

NOP acts as administrator of the Joint Venture and receives the Operators cash call, usually within the first two weeks 
of each month, which then becomes payable 15 days from the date of issue. When it receives this cash call, Northpet 
issues a funding request to each of its shareholders for its pro rata share of the Operators request and any Northpet 
administrative costs. Cash paid to Northpet in response to this request is treated as a subscription for Ordinary Shares 
of £1 in Northpet at a fixed price of £1,250 per share. At the end of December 2015, there were 20,422 ordinary shares 
in issue, HALO owning 9,007 and NP 11,415.

13. Trade and Other Receivables 

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Trade receivables  - -
Other receivables  87,884 47,318
   
  87,884 47,318

The directors consider that the carrying values of trade and other receivables are approximate to their fair values.

All of the Group’s receivables have been reviewed for indications of impairment. None of the receivables were found 
to be impaired as at 31 December 2015 (2014: £nil).

No unimpaired receivables are past due as at the reporting date (2014: £nil). 

11. Investment in Jointly Controlled Operations 

The Group has entered into the following unincorporated Jointly Controlled Operations, which are included within the 
Group’s financial statements:

Name of project     Principal activities Group interest
    
Juan de Nova Est.  Oil and gas development 70%
P2265  Oil and gas development 35%
SADR Bojador Block  Oil and gas development 50%
SADR Guelta Block  Oil and gas development 50%
SADR Imlili Block  Oil and gas development 50%
SC54A  Oil and gas development 15%

At the balance sheet date there were no contingent liabilities or contingent assets in respect of any of the Jointly 
Controlled Operations.

At the balance sheet date there were no capital commitments (2014: £45,000) in respect of Jointly Controlled 
Operations.

12. Investments in Joint Ventures 

The Company has an investment in the following joint venture undertaking:

 Country of Principal activity Interest Accounting
 incorporation   reference date
    
Northpet Investments Limited England & Wales Investment in oil and gas  44.11% 31 December
  exploration, development 
  and production opportunities

Northpet Investments Limited is a joint venture between Hague and London Oil PLC and NP Offshore Holdings (UK) 
Limited. It administers the interests held by each of the two partners in the Guyane Maritime Permit.

Hague and London Oil PLC owns a 44.11% interest in the issued share capital of Northpet Investments Limited:  
NP Offshore Holdings (UK) Limited owns a 55.89% interest.

The Group’s investment in Joint Ventures at the balance sheet date comprises:

   Investments in Joint Ventures
      £

Cost
As at 1 July 2014   3,467,422
Additions   85,169
Impairment   (3,552,591)
 
As at 31 December 2015   -
Share of Joint Venture operating loss on ordinary activities   -
 
Net investment in Joint Ventures   -
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The fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Date of grant 21 December 2010 1 December 2011 20 July 2012 4 February 2013
    
Number granted 462,500 375,000 250,000 50,000
Share price at date of grant (adjusted) £1.60 £2.26 £2.70 £1.61
Exercise price £2.00 £2.40 £4.00 £2.80
Expected volatility 60% 80% 89% 65%
Expected life 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years
Risk free rate 2.4% 1.1879% 0.6749% 1.0476%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Fair value of options granted 
  at date of grant £315,514 £571,229 £452,239 £38,571
Earliest vesting date 21 December 2011 1 December 2012 20 July 2013 4 February 2014
Expiry date 21 December 2020 1 December 2021  20 July 2022 4 February 2023

The number of options granted, exercise price and share price at issue have been restated to reflect the effect of the 
40:1 share consolidation that took place in December 2014.

For all options granted, these vest 33.3% after 1 year, 33.3% after 2 years and 33.3% after 3 years.

The above numbers represent the total original options granted. Previously options totalling 5,000,000 of the 2010 
issue and 5,000,000 of the 2011 issue held by F Dekker, were forfeited.

Expected volatility was determined based on the historic volatility of the Company. The expected life used in the 
model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Company recognised total expenses of £83,770 (2014: £233,954) related to equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions during the period.

14. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Cash at bank (GBP)  175,992 697,533
Cash at bank (USD)  55,141 1,207,883
Cash at bank (EUR)  46,791 -

  277,924 1,905,416

15. a Share Capital  

Allotted, issued and fully paid December 2015 December 2015 June 2014 June 2014

ordinary shares Number £  Number £

    
At 1 July 724,343,472 724,343 724,343,472 724,343
New shares issued 31 October 2014 241,000,000 241,000 - -
Share consolidation –  
  cancellation of 0.1p shares (965,343,472) - - -
Share consolidation –  
  new 4.0p shares issued 24,133,587 - - -
     
At 31 December/30 June 24,133,587 965,343 724,343,472 724,343

On 31 October 2014, the Company issued 241,000,000 new ordinary shares in consideration for the acquisition of 
Hague and London Oil B.V.

On 19 December 2014, the Company undertook a share consolidation of the Company’s share capital. One new 
ordinary share of 4.0p each was issued for each holding of forty existing ordinary shares of 0.1p each. As a result,  
the number of shares in issue was reduced from 965,343,472 to 24,133,587.

15. b Share-Based Payments – Options and Warrants

The Company has a share option scheme for all directors and senior management. The vesting period is one, two 
and three years – one third of the options vesting in each period. The options are settled in equity once exercised.
If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire.

Details of the number of share options and warrants and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) outstanding 
during the period are as follows:

December 2015     Number of Options WAEP £
    
Outstanding at the beginning of the period  887,500 2.80
Outstanding at the period end  887,500 2.80

Number exercisable at 31 December 2015  887,500 2.80

June 2014     Number of Options WAEP £

    
Outstanding at the beginning of the year  887,500 2.80
Outstanding at the year end  887,500 2.80

Number exercisable at 30 June 2014  604,167 2.40
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17. Financial Instrument Risk Exposure and Management

The principal financial risks to which the Group is exposed are: foreign exchange risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 
This note describes the Group’s objectives, policies and process for managing those risks and the methods used to 
measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented in notes 13, 14, 16 and 18.

There have been no substantive changes to the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies 
and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from the previous period.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is dealt with in note 18 of these financial statements.

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is limited to the US$ and Euro bank accounts held by the Group. Given the current low levels 
of currency held in Group bank accounts, the Board do not consider the foreign exchange risk to have had a material 
impact on the Group’s results. 

Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash balances. 

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the third parties are large international banks. 

The Group’s total credit risk amounts to the total of the sum of the receivables, cash and cash equivalents. At the 
period end this amounts to £365,808 (2014: £1,952,734).

Interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis 
The Group’s only exposure to interest rate risk is the interest received on the cash held on deposit. The Group does 
not have any interest bearing borrowings.

The impact of a 1.5% change in interest rate on the interest received during the period, and with all other variables 
being held constant, would have resulted in a £2,639 change to the Group’s loss before tax.

It is considered that this risk has had no material impact on the Company’s earnings.

16. Financial Instruments

Classification of financial instruments
The tables below set out the Group’s accounting classification of each class of its financial assets and liabilities.

Financial assets

At 31 December 2015     Loans and other receivables  Total carrying value
     £  £

Trade receivables  - -
Other receivables  87,884 87,884
Cash and cash equivalents  277,924 277,924
      
  365,808 365,808

At 30 June 2014     Loans and other receivables  Total carrying value

     £  £

Trade receivables  - -
Other receivables  47,318 47,318
Cash and cash equivalents  1,905,416 1,905,416
    
  1,952,734 1,952,734

All of the above financial assets’ carrying values are approximate to their fair values, as at 31 December 2015 and 30 June 
2014, given their nature and short times to maturity.

Financial liabilities

At 31 December 2015     Measured at amortised cost  Total carrying value
     £  £

Trade payables  64,487 64,487
Accruals   173,802 173,802
Other payables  4,932 4,932  
 
  243,221 243,221

At 30 June 2014     Measured at amortised cost  Total carrying value

     £  £

Trade payables  39,774 39,774
Accruals   43,167 43,167
 
  82,941 82,941

All of the above financial liabilities’ carrying values are approximate to their fair values, as at 31 December 2015 and 30 June 2014, 
given their nature and short times to maturity.

A provision of £170,915 in respect of deferred consideration payable on first production from the SC54 licence was recorded 
at the time of the acquisition of HALO BV. After the decision was taken to impair the asset, this liability was released.
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22.  Related Party Transactions 

During the period the Company acquired additional shares in its Joint Venture investment, Northpet Investments 
Limited, paying £85,169 into the Joint Venture (2014: £1,498,907).

The only other related party transactions during the period were with the directors and key management. 

Short-term benefits 

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Directors’ remuneration:
Mr A Yeo  248,562 127,500
Dr M Butler  144,000 93,500
Mr I Patrick  48,750    41,250
Mr A Cochran  231,145 -
Mr W Phelps  31,634 -

  704,091 262,250
   
Social security costs  52,753 30,897
   
  756,844 293,147

In addition to the remuneration shown above, the Group incurred share-based payment charges of £57,805  
(2014: £191,179) in respect of the above named directors. 

In relation to the remuneration relating to Andrew Cochran, £172,311 remains outstanding and has not yet been paid.

23. Investment in Subsidiaries

The Group’s Parent Company holds the issued share capital of the following subsidiary undertakings, which are 
incorporated in the UK and Netherlands and have been included in these consolidated financial statements.

Company  Principal activities Class Percentage holding

Maghreb Exploration Limited Oil and gas development Ordinary 100%
Wessex Hydrocarbons Limited  Oil and gas development Ordinary 100%
HALO SC54A B.V. Oil and gas development Ordinary 100%
HALO Duyung B.V.  Oil and gas development Ordinary 100%
Hague and London Oil B.V. Oil and gas development Ordinary 100%

24. Contingent Liabilities

The directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities that require disclosure within the Group at 31 December 2015.

18.  Liquidity Risk

In managing liquidity risk, the main objective of the Group is to ensure that it has the ability to pay all of its liabilities 
as they fall due. The Group monitors its levels of working capital to ensure that it can meet its debt repayments as 
they fall due. The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Group’s financial liabilities as at  
31 December 2015 and 30 June 2014 on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity.

 Total Within 2 months Within 6 months 2 - 6 months Greater than 
     12 months
 £ £ £ £ £

At 31 December 2015       
Trade payables  64,487 64,487 - - -
Accruals 173,802 - 173,802 - -
Other payables 4,932 - 4,932 - -
      
 243,221 64,487 178,734 - -
  

At 30 June 2014       
Trade payables  39,774 39,774 - - -
Accruals 43,167 - 43,167 - -
  
 82,941 39,774 43,167 - -

19.  Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
add shareholder value and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group defines 
capital as being share capital plus reserves as disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Board of Directors monitors the level of capital as compared to the Group’s commitments and adjusts the level of 
capital as is determined to be necessary, by issuing new shares. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

20.  Financial Commitments

At 31 December 2015 the Group had no capital commitments in respect of the Guyane project (2014: £35,000) and 
no commitments in respect of all other projects (2014: £45,000).

21. Trade and Other Payables 

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Trade payables  64,487 39,774
Accruals  173,802 43,167
Other payables  4,932 -
    
  243,221 82,941
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25. Commitments under operating leases

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of the Company’s office in 
the Netherlands are set out below:

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Operating leases which expire:
Within one year  33,120 -
Between two and five years  88,430 -

  121,550 -

Under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable.

26. Ultimate Controlling Party

As at 31 December 2015, Hague and London Oil PLC had no ultimate controlling party.

27. Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

     18  months ended 12 months ended

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Loss for the financial period  (6,513,828) (6,872,989)
Taxation charge  - -
Finance income  (2,982) (6,314)
Share-based payment  83,770 233,954
Loss from joint venture  3,552,591 5,023,059
Depreciation  5,106 729
Impairment of intangible assets  1,169,169 591,263
Release contingent consideration provision  (169,891) -
Impact of foreign exchange movements  (142,927) 159,241

  (2,018,992) (871,057)
   
Changes in working capital   
(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (33,904) (16,334)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (124,497) 28,792
   
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (2,177,393) (858,599)
   

We have audited the Parent Company financial statements of 
Hague and London Oil PLC (“the Company“) for the 18 month 
period ended 31 December 2015 that comprise the Parent 
Company Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to 9. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice). 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 17 the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Financial Reporting Council’s (FRC’s) Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

Scope of the Audit of the Financial Statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements 
is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on Financial Statements
In our opinion the Parent Company financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs 
as at 31 December 2015;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Emphasis of Matter – going concern
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which 
is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the 
Company disclosure made in the Accounting Policies regarding 
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. The going 
concern status of the Company is dependent upon future 
funding arrangements.

Management forecasts indicate that if they are unable to 
manage the Company’s forecast spending or a planned 
external fundraise does not occur, the Company would have a 
requirement to seek alternative sources of funding.

These conditions, along with the other matters explained in 
the Accounting Policies, indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial 
statements do not include the adjustments that result if the 
Company was unable to continue as a going concern.

Opinion on Other Matters Prescribed by the Companies 
Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report 
and the Report of the Directors for the financial period for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the Parent Company financial statements..

Matters on which we are Required to Report by 
Exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the Parent Company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Other Matter
We have reported separately on the Group financial  
statements of Hague and London Oil PLC for the period ended 
31 December 2015. That report includes an emphasis of matter.

Carl Deane
Senior Statutory Auditor,
for and on behalf of

Nexia Smith & Williamson Audit Limited
Statutory Auditor and Chartered Accountants 
Portwall Place
Portwall Lane
Bristol BS1 6NA
United Kingdom

30 March 2016

Independent Auditor’s Report on the Parent Company 
Financial Statements
to the Members of Hague and London Oil PLC



54 Annual Report 2015   Hague and London Oil PLC Hague and London Oil PLC   Annual Report 2015 55

1. Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
The annual financial statements of Hague and London Oil 
PLC have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
accounting standards. The principal accounting policies set out 
below have been consistently applied to all periods presented. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention. 

As permitted by section 408 of Companies Act 2006, a separate 
Profit and Loss Account for the Company has not been 
included in these financial statements. The Company’s loss for 
the period ended 31 December 2015 was £6,238,183 (2014: 
£8,494,154).

As permitted by FRS 1 Cash flow statements, no cash flow 
statement for the Company has been included. 

As permitted by FRS 8 Related party disclosures, no related 
party disclosures for the Company have been included, in 
respect of transactions with its 100% owned subsidiaries.

Going concern basis of preparation
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors 
likely to affect its future development and performance, are  
set out in the Chairman’s Statement and Project Review.  
At 31 December 2015 the Company had cash balances 
of £231,044 and management forecasts indicate that the 
Company will require additional funds in 2016. The Directors 
are confident that they can raise sufficient funds from new 
or existing investors or from a restructuring of the portfolio, 
despite the current market conditions.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company 
will have adequate resources to continue operating for 
the foreseeable future and continue to meet its planned 
commitments and liabilities for at least twelve months from the 
date these financial statements have been approved.  
For this reason the Directors continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Interest is credited to the Profit and Loss Account in the period 
to which it relates.

Exploration Costs
The Company follows a successful efforts-based accounting 
policy for oil and gas assets. 

Costs (including research costs) incurred prior to obtaining the 
legal rights to explore an area are expensed immediately to the 
Profit and Loss Account.

Expenditure incurred on the acquisition of a licence interest 
is initially capitalised on a licence by licence basis. Costs are 
held, un-depleted, within exploration costs until such a time 
as the exploration phase on the licence area is complete or 
commercial reserves have been discovered.

Exploration expenditure incurred in the process of determining 
exploration targets is capitalised initially within intangible 
assets as exploration costs. 

Tangible Oil and Gas Assets
Once a decision is reached that commercial reserves have 
been established the relevant costs are transferred (following 
an impairment review) from intangible oil and gas assets to 
development and production assets within tangible oil and gas 
assets. Expenditure incurred after the commerciality of the field 
has been established is then capitalised within tangible oil and 
gas assets. 

At the balance sheet date no such transfers to tangible assets 
had been made.

Tangible Fixed Assets
Depreciation is provided in order to write off the cost less any 
residual value of each asset over its estimated useful life. 

The following annual rates are used on a reducing balance 
basis:
Plant and machinery 25%

Investments
Investments are included at cost less amounts written off for 
impairment.

Current Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is 
provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using 
the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Foreign Currencies
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated 
into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the 
transaction. At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated at 
the rate ruling at that date. All exchange differences are dealt 
with in the Profit and Loss Account.

Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2015As at 31 December 2015

    Notes December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Fixed assets    
Intangible assets 2 - -
Tangible fixed assets 3 - -
Investments 4 20,100 3,487,422
    
  20,100 3,487,422
    
Current assets 
Debtors 5 325,940 63,607
Cash at bank  231,044 1,901,572
    
  556,984 1,965,179
    
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (58,937) (81,441)
     
Net current assets  498,047 1,883,738
     
    
Net assets 518,147 5,371,160
    
    
Capital and reserves    
Called up share capital  7 965,343 724,343
Share premium account 8 16,800,122 16,800,122
Merger reserve account 8 1,060,400 -
Share-based payment reserve 8 1,161,952       1,078,182
Profit and loss account 8 (19,469,670) (13,231,487)
     

Shareholders funds 8 518,147 5,371,160

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

Andrew Cochran
Director

Parent Company Balance Sheet
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2. Intangible Fixed Assets

      Exploration costs
      £

Cost 
At 1 July 2014 1,316,726
Additions -

At 31 December 2015 1,316,726

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  
At 1 July 2014 1,316,726
Impairments -

At 31 December 2015 1,316,726

Net book value 
At 31 December 2015 -

At 30 June 2014 -

Management reviews each exploration project for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date.  
Such indications would include written off wells and relinquishment of development acreage.

3. Tangible Fixed Assets

      Plant and machinery
      £

Cost 
At 30 June 2014 and 31 December 2015 11,529

Accumulated depreciation  
At 1 July 2014 11,529        
Charge for the period -

At 31 December 2015 11,529       

Net book value 
At 31 December 2015 -

At 30 June 2014 -

Share-Based Payments
Where share options and warrants have been granted to 
directors, employees and advisers, FRS 20 has been applied, 
whereby the fair value of the options and warrants is measured 
at the grant date. The fair value of options is spread over the 
period during which the employees become entitled to the 
options. The fair value of warrants is expensed immediately.

A valuation model is used to assess the fair value, taking into 
account the terms and conditions attached to the options 
and warrants. The fair value of goods and services received 
are measured by reference to the fair value of options and 
warrants. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the award (‘the vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired 
and the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest.

The profit or loss charge or credit for a period represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the 
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of 
whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that 
all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the 
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms 
had not been modified. An additional expense is recognised 
for any modification, which increases the total fair value of the 
share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial 
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 



58 Annual Report 2015   Hague and London Oil PLC Hague and London Oil PLC   Annual Report 2015 59

5. Debtors 

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings  258,790 16,289
Other receivables  53,301 22,388
Prepayments  13,849 24,930
    
  325,940 63,607

6. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year 

     December 2015 June 2014

     £  £

    
Trade creditors  58,937 39,774
Accruals  - 41,667
   
  58,937 81,441

7. a Share Capital 

Allotted, issued and fully paid December 2015 December 2015 June 2014 June 2014

ordinary shares Number £ Number £

At 1 July 724,343,472 724,343 724,343,472 724,343
New shares issued 31 October 2014 241,000,000 241,000 - -
Share consolidation – 
  cancellation of 0.1p shares (965,343,472) - - -
Share consolidation – 
  new 4.0p shares issued 24,133,587 - - -
     
At 31 December/30 June 24,133,587 965,343 724,343,472 724,343

On 31 October 2014, the Company issued 241,000,000 new ordinary shares in consideration for the acquisition of 
Hague and London Oil B.V.

On 19 December 2014, the Company undertook a share consolidation of the Company’s share capital. One new 
ordinary share of 4.0p each was issued for each holding of forty existing ordinary shares of 0.1p each. As a result,  
the number of shares in issue was reduced from 965,343,472 to 24,133,587.

4. Investments

The Company’s investments at the balance sheet date comprise:

  Investments in Joint Ventures Investments in Subsidiaries Total
 £ £ £

  
Cost    
As at 1 July 2014 3,467,422 20,000         3,487,422
 
Additions 85,169 1,301,500 1,386,669

Impairment (3,552,591) (1,301,400) (4,853,991)
    
As at 31 December 2015 - 20,100 20,100

Subsidiaries
The Company has investments in the following subsidiary undertakings:

  Country of incorporation Principal activity Interest

Maghreb Exploration Limited England & Wales Oil and gas development 100%
Wessex Hydrocarbons Limited  England & Wales Oil and gas development 100%
Hague and London Oil B.V. Netherlands Oil and gas development 100%

Joint Venture Investments
The Company has an investment in the following joint venture undertaking

 Country of incorporation Principal activity Interest Accounting
    reference date

Northpet Investments Limited England and Wales Investment in oil 44.11% 31 December
  and gas exploration, 
  development and
  production opportunities

The Joint Venture had no capital commitments in respect of the Guyane project as at 31 December 2015  
(2014: £80,000).

The Guyane Maritime Exclusive Exploration Licence interest is held through a 44.11% interest in the share capital 
of Northpet Investments Limited (“Northpet”), which holds a 2.5% direct working interest. The remaining 55.89% 
shareholding is held by NP Offshore Holdings (UK) Limited (“NP”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Northern Petroleum 
plc (“NOP”). The operation of Northpet is controlled by a Shareholders’ Agreement signed between HALO and NP on 
9 July 2008 as amended on 14 April 2014. NP has the right to appoint the Chairman of the board.
 
NOP acts as administrator of the Joint Venture and receives the Operator’s cash call, usually within the first two weeks 
of each month, which then becomes payable 15 days from the date of issue. When it receives this cash call, Northpet 
issues a funding request to each of its shareholders for its pro rata share of the Operator’s request and any Northpet 
administrative costs. Cash paid to Northpet in response to this request is treated as a subscription for Ordinary Shares 
of £1 in Northpet at a fixed price of £1,250 per share.  At the end of December 2015, there were 20,422 ordinary 
shares in issue, HALO owning 9,007 and NP 11,415.
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8. Reserves

 Share premium Merger Profit and loss Share-based Total
 account reserve account payment 
  account  reserve 
 £ £ £ £ £

As at 1 July 2014 16,800,122 - (13,231,487) 1,078,182 4,646,817
    
Issue of share capital for acquisition 
  of subsidiary - 1,060,400 - - 1,060,400
Share-based payments - - - 83,770 83,770
Loss for the financial period                      - - (6,238,183) - (6,238,183)
    
As at 31 December 2015 16,800,122 1,060,400 (19,469,670) 1,161,952 (447,196)
    
As at 1 July 2013 16,800,122 - (4,737,333) 844,228 12,907,017
Share-based payments - - - 233,954 233,954
Loss for the year - - (8,494,154) - (8,494,154)
    
As at 30 June 2014 16,800,122 - (13,231,487) 1,078,182 4,646,817

The merger reserve account of £1,060,400 relates to the acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of Hague and 
London Oil B.V. in October 2014, in which consideration was satisfied by the issue of 241,000,000 ordinary shares in 
the Company.

Reconciliation of Movement in Shareholders’ Funds

     2015 2014

     £  £

    
Loss for the financial period  (6, ,183) (8,494,154)
Share-based payments  83,770 233,954
Issue of share capital for acquisition of subsidiary  1,301,400 -
    
Net decrease in shareholders’ funds  (4,853,013) (8,260,200)
Shareholders’ funds at 1 July 2014  5,371,160 13,631,360
    
Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 2015  518,147 5,371,160

9. Related Party Transactions

During the period the Company acquired additional shares in its Joint Venture investment, Northpet Investments 
Limited, paying £85,169 into the Joint Venture (2014: £1,498,907).

7. b Share-Based Payments – Options and Warrants

The Company has a share option scheme for all directors and senior management. The vesting period is one, two 
and three years – one third of the options vesting in each period. The options are settled in equity once exercised.

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire. 

Details of the number of share options and warrants and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) outstanding 
during the period are as follows:

December 2015     Number of options WAEP £

Outstanding at the beginning of the period  887,500 2.80
  
Outstanding at the period end  887,500 2.80
  
Number exercisable at 31 December 2015  887,500 2.80

June 2014     Number of options WAEP £

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  887,500 2.80
   
Outstanding at the year end  887,500 2.80
  
Number exercisable at 30 June 2014  604,167 2.40

The fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

Date of grant 21 December 2010 1 December 2011 20 July 2012 4 February 2013

Number granted 462,500 375,000 250,000 50,000
Share price at date of grant (adjusted) £1.60 £2.26 £2.70 £1.61
Exercise price £2.00 £2.40 £4.00 £2.80
Expected volatility 60% 80% 89% 65%
Expected life 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years 5.5, 6 and 6.5 years
Risk free rate 2.4% 1.1879% 0.6749% 1.0476%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%
Fair value of options granted 
  at date of grant £315,514 £571,229 £452,239 £38,571
Earliest vesting date 21 December 2011 1 December 2012 20 July 2013 4 February 2014
Expiry date 21 December 2020 1 December 2021 20 July 2022 4 February 2023

The number of options granted, exercise price and share price at issue have been restated to reflect effect of the 40:1 
share consolidation that took place in December 2014.

For all options granted, these vest 33.3% after 1 year, 33.3% after 2 years and 33.3% after 3 years.

The above numbers represent the total original options granted. 

Expected volatility was determined based on the historic volatility of the Company. The expected life used in the 
model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Company recognised total expenses of £83,770 (2014: £233,954) related to equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions during the period.
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The ‘Petroglyphs’ were made by Wanda Plantinga.  
She is a graphic artist who studied fine arts  
and design at The Academy of Fine Arts in  
The Netherlands. 

Wanda previously worked as an art-director 
in advertising in Asia and now works in The 
Netherlands.

www.facebook.com/TORDenHaag
hummingTOR@hotmail.com

Centuries after the death of roses and of renowned 
poets, and after the beauty of the swan’s alien flight,  
I have - as an artist - seen man’s duality through my  
own eyes.

My artistic goal is to transcend this duality into the  
unity of one painting by means of two styles and,  
in doing so, display unity. 
 
www.mansourbakhtiar.com

MANSOUR BAKHTIARWANDA PLANTINGA
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